FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
8/29/2022 11:32 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/29/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURTNO. 101216-I

NO. 37665-6-III SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

JAMES BERNHARD,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR FRANKLIN COUNTY

The Honorable Alexander Ekstrom, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ERIN MOODY,
Attorney for Petitioner
NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC
The Denny Building
2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250
Seattle, Washington 98121

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does <u>State v. Stenson</u>, 132 Wn.2d 668, 940 P.2d 19 (1997), require the trial court to admit luminol test results indicating the possible presence of blood, even where experts cannot opine that blood was likely present, so long as the jury is told the test is "presumptive" rather than conclusive? (No.)
- 2. When trial counsel objects that evidence is speculative, confusing, and misleading, does this preserve an ER 403 objection for appeal? (Yes.)
- 3. Where the trial court admitted testimony by two law enforcement witnesses, indicating that there might have been blood all over the alleged crime scene, over defense objection and without any balancing of probative value against prejudicial

effect, did the trial court abuse its discretion under ERs 403 and 702? (Yes.)

4. Were the trial court's evidentiary errors harmless? (No.)

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

James and Ashley Bernhard married in 2003, when he was 24 and she was 20. RP 1139-43, 1478.¹ That same year Mrs. Bernhard gave birth to the couple's only child, J.B. RP 692, 1450-51, 1486. Mr. Bernhard worked as a biologist at the Hanford nuclear reservation. RP 402.

Mrs. Bernhard was diagnosed with Type 1 diabetes when she was 19, and her condition worsened over time. RP 1181-82, 1484. When she had an episode of extreme hypoglycemia (low blood sugar) she would sometimes have a seizure and sustain

¹ Most of the transcripts are paginated consecutively and cited herein with "RP." The transcripts for October 1 and October 4, 2019, are not paginated separately and are cited herein by date.

injuries such as bruises or a concussion. RP 1191-93, 1319-20, 1423-26, 1457-59, 1488-90, 1494-98, 1506-11.

Mrs. Bernhard's diabetes was complicated by severe alcoholism. RP 576-78, 691, 1439-40, 1484. At the height of her addiction, Mrs. Bernhard was consuming half a gallon of vodka per day. RP 1528-29.

In 2014, Mrs. was diagnosed with acute liver failure. RP 1182, 1512. She estimated she had been hospitalized for diabetes or other issues approximately 10 times per year since 2005. RP 1186-87.

Finally, in 2017 Mrs. Bernhard was diagnosed with endometriosis and uterine fibroids. RP 1158, 1182-83, 1326. Both conditions had previously caused her to bleed "uncontrollably" when she menstruated. RP 1182-83.

On April 10, 2016, the Bernhards attended a barbecue at a friend's house. RP 401-02, 404, 1269. Mrs. Bernhard consumed about 20 alcoholic drinks that day. RP 1270-71. She continued

to drink after the family got home that night, around 9:30 p.m. RP 404-05, 1270-71. At some point she went into the couple's bedroom and fell asleep, while Mr. Bernhard sat in the living room. RP 1272, 1530-31.

At 3:31 a.m. the next morning, Mr. Bernhard called 911 to report he had found his wife unconscious in the shower. RP 443-45, 740; Ex. 10 at 1. He said Mrs. Bernhard was not breathing normally, that the two had been monitoring her blood sugar that evening and "adjusting it . . . [because] she was kinda out of whack," and that they "might have overdone it." Ex. 10 at 1. He said he had last checked her blood sugar "a couple hours ago" and determined it was 206. Ex. 10 at 1.

When medics arrived, Mr. Bernhard directed them to the master bedroom / bathroom, where they found Mrs. Bernhard naked and unconscious in the couple's large granite shower. RP 478-81, 1524-25. There was diluted blood in the water that had

collected. RP 482. Mr. Bernhard told the medics Mrs. Bernhard was having her period. RP 482-83.

The paramedics measured Mrs. Bernhard's blood sugar and determined it was lower than 20 mg/dL. RP 484-85. They transported her to Kadlec Hospital. RP 448, 538-39. Upon admission to the ER, Mrs. Bernhard had a blood alcohol concentration (BAC) of 2.0. RP 635.

After Mrs. Bernhard left for the hospital, Mr. Bernhard called his parents to come stay with J.B. RP 1551-52. He then drove to the hospital. RP 1551-52.

Emergency room staff discovered lacerations in Mrs. Bernhard's vaginal area. RP 772-73. The on-call physician, Dr. Mark Mulholland, determined she had four tears. RP 764-65, 772-78. He repaired them all in about 25 minutes. RP 776-84.

At around 6:00 a.m., Mr. Bernhard contacted Mrs. Bernhard's sister, Shelby Cooper. RP 605-07, 1554. Ms. Cooper came to the hospital with her friend, Melissa Moore. RP 694-95.

As soon as they arrived, they began pressuring Mr. Bernhard to leave. RP 1556-59. He went home briefly to sleep on his couch. RP 1556-59.

At about 7:30 a.m., Dr. Debbierey Bongar evaluated Mrs. Bernhard and noted bruising on her eyes, facial swelling, tenderness in her lower left rib, and a bruised right ear. RP 622, 631-32. Mrs. Bernhard also had severe anemia and had been given four blood transfusions. RP 634-35, 637-38.

At some point that day, Ms. Cooper began suggesting the circumstances of Ms. Bernhard's injuries were suspicious. RP 719, 1084-85. She engaged Mrs. Bernhard in a "lengthy conversation" about whether she recalled being raped or was afraid of her husband. RP 719. Ms. Cooper wanted the hospital to contact law enforcement. RP 719.

At around noon that day, Ms. Cooper told Mr. Bernhard she was going home. RP 1077-78. Instead, she and Ms. Moore went to the Bernhards' house to "inspect" the master bedroom.

RP 702-03. There, they took pictures of several items with apparent blood on them: a portion of the mattress pad and a pillow on the bed, a small yellow rag on the floor next to the bed, a small spot on the carpet a few feet from the rag, and a long tank top dress. RP 655-59, 703; Ex. 20-25.

Ms. Cooper and Ms. Moore returned to the hospital and again pressured Mr. Bernhard to leave. RP 1561. He went home again, where he did some chores including cleaning in the bedroom and bathroom. RP 1558-59, 1580-81.

At Ms. Cooper's prompting, a nurse contacted law enforcement. RP 667-69, 682-83. At about 9:15 p.m. on April 12, 2016, Pasco Police Officer Jed Abastillas came to speak with Mrs. Bernhard. RP 730, 739. He found Ms. Cooper in Mrs. Bernhard's room, yelling into her phone, and asked her to step outside. RP 741. Mrs. Bernhard had been given Oxycodone about twenty minutes earlier. RP 730-31. She gave Officer

Abastillas a full interview and he concluded, "things weren't coming clearly to her at the time." RP 747-48.

Despite this lack of clarity, Officer Abastillas had Mrs. Bernhard sign an affidavit describing her recollection of the events of April 10, 2016. RP 1665-68; Ex. 171. The affidavit stated that Mr. Bernhard had given her insulin and food on the night of April 10, that he did not usually administer her insulin and had given her too much, and that doctors told her she had lost "six units of blood from the vaginal area." RP 1666-68; Ex. 171. The next day Mrs. Bernhard told a Pasco detective that she could not remember anything that happened on April 10. RP 906.

Ms. Cooper approached Officer Abastillas and gave him the pictures she had taken at the Bernhards' residence. RP 655-65, 713-14. She also gave officers some notes that her stepsister had taken in the hospital, which Ms. Cooper claimed were the readings from Mrs. Bernhard's blood sugar meter between 12:51

a.m. and 2:02 a.m. on April 11, 2016. RP 655-65, 711-14, 908-09, 1081-82; Ex. 30. Ms. Cooper dictated these readings to her stepsister, adjusting the times because she believed the meter was off by "a couple hours." RP 1079-80.

After interviewing Mrs. Bernhard, Officer Abastillas went with another officer to the Bernhard residence. RP 749, 839-40. Mr. Bernhard invited them in and took them to the master bedroom and bathroom. RP 750, 842-43. He showed them a plastic stool in the shower and some pictures he had taken of one of the legs. RP 750-52, 842-43, 854; Ex. 49, 50, 55-57. In several of the photos, a segment of one leg is visibly caked with patches of a dark, reddish-brown substance. Ex. 49, 56, 57.

On April 14, detectives Anthony Aceves and Jesus Romero asked Mr. Bernhard to talk with them at the Pasco police station. RP 1051-52. Mr. Bernhard went immediately and gave a three-hour interview. RP 1052-56; Ex. 143.

During the interview, the detectives told Mr. Bernhard that Ms. Cooper had seen blood on the mattress in the master bedroom. Ex. 143 (at 36:31 to 36:40). Mr. Bernard responded, "That's news to me." Ex. 143 (at 36:31 to 39:00). He told them he had not seen any blood on the bedsheets, despite having washed them recently. Ex. 143 (at 36:19 to 37:00). He said that Ms. Cooper had "had it out for [him] since day one." Ex. 143 (at 37:41 to 38:04.)

Detective Aceves showed Mr. Bernhard the pictures Ms. Cooper had taken, asked Mr. Bernhard if he knew "how it was that [Mrs. Bernhard] bled so much," and pressed Mr. Bernhard to explain what "object was inserted into her." Ex. 143 (at 56:19 to 58:01). Mr. Bernhard responded, "I just don't know. I wasn't in there, hardly at all." Ex. 143 (at 58:01 to 58:09).

For the final two hours of the interview, the detectives repeatedly accused Mr. Bernhard of poisoning Mrs. Bernhard so he could rape her. Detective Romero called Mr. Bernhard a liar

and a "sick individual," who liked violent sex and had tried to kill his wife, while Detective Aceves opined that Mrs. Bernhard's injuries must have happened accidentally, when "things got out of hand." Ex. 143 (at 58:14 to 59:03, 1:01:17 to 1:01:25, 1:04:30 to 1:05:05, 1:06:03 to 1:06:35, 1:08:03 to 1:08:40, 1:09:50 to 1:11:31, 1:12:46 to 1:12:57, 1:16:17 to 1:16:22, 1:23:00 to 1:30:01, 1:34:11 to 1:34:42, 1:48:48 to 1:48:59; 1:53:03 to 1:53:20; 1:50:00 to 1:59:10; 2:10:50 to 2:11:04; 2:19:05 to 2:19:15).

Two hours into the interview, Mr. Bernhard acknowledged that he had noticed some blood on the bedding when he returned home from the hospital, but nothing that could not be explained by a nosebleed. Ex. 143 (at 1:59:40 to 2:00:01). He also said he had cleaned up a larger amount of blood on the mattress but did not think it was a fresh stain. Ex. 143 (at 2:03:44 to 2:04:15; 2:09:30 to 2:09:38). When Detective Aceves asked why he had not told Officer Abastillas and Groom about this, Mr. Bernhard

said he didn't think anything happened in the bed, didn't think to inspect the bed and then, when he came across the blood on the mattress, feared that disclosing it at that point would look suspicious. Ex. 143 (at 2:05:28 to 2:05:41; 2:08:23 to 2:09:16). On April 15, 2016, law enforcement executed a search warrant at the Bernhard residence, looking for "bloody items." RP 863-65, 945-47, 1033. They did not find any bloody dress or yellow rag. RP 1086-87.

Evidence technician Ashley Lucas sprayed several items with "Bluestar," a chemical that reacts with a variety of substances, including hemoglobin (a protein in blood), copper, and many cleaning products. RP 950-71, 1013-14. The reaction causes a blue "illumination," which can be seen only briefly and in a dark room. RP (Oct. 1, 2019) at 17; RP 970-71. Bluestar is the brand name for a substance known generically as "luminol." RP (Oct. 1, 2019) at 17.

Ms. Lucas sprayed Bluestar on several items in the Bernhards' master bedroom, including the mattress pad; the carpet between the bed and the bathroom; the linoleum floor in the bathroom; and the back wall of the shower. RP 970-72, 979-80. She attempted to photograph the resulting illumination but could not find the necessary camera setting. RP 970-71, 1033-35. She took the mattress pad and floor cuttings back to the lab for further spraying and photographing. RP 973.

The detectives also took a gray sheet, a tan sheet, and the shower stool. RP 980-91; Ex. 114, 117-34. A few days later, they sprayed these items with Bluestar at the police station and photographed the resulting illumination. RP 980-91; Ex. 114, 117-34.

Because Bluestar is an inconclusive test, Ms. Lucas swabbed several of the items that illuminated so they could be further tested for blood and DNA. RP 958-68. She also swabbed a small visible stain on the granite step leading into the shower,

which detectives believed looked like possible blood. RP 961-63.

Forensic scientist Beau Baggenstoss tested swabs from the carpet cuttings, the gray sheet, the granite step, the mattress pad, and the shower stool. RP 993-1011, 1015. He used phenolphthalein (phenol), a substance that, like Bluestar, reacts with a component of blood. RP 1013-16. Although phenol is also a presumptive rather than conclusive test, it reacts with fewer non-blood substances than Bluestar and so gives fewer false positives. RP 1014.

The phenol testing did not indicate any blood on the carpet, mattress, or shower stool. RP 1023-24. It did indicate blood on the gray sheet and the granite shower step. RP 1016.

i. Charges

The State charged Mr. Bernhard with one count each of first-degree assault with sexual motivation; second-degree rape; and second-degree assault with sexual motivation. CP 133-34.

It contended Mr. Bernhard deliberately injected Mrs. Bernhard with an overdose of insulin, so he could rape her while she was unconscious. RP 1717-18.

The defense argued Mr. Bernhard had no history violence toward Mrs. Bernhard and no motive to harm her. RP 1775-77. It contended she sustained the vaginal injuries accidentally during the hypoglycemic episode, perhaps by falling onto the stool leg, and the bruising by seizing in the enclosed granite shower. RP 396, 1794.

ii. Motions in limine

The State moved in limine to admit evidence of the Bluestar reactions. CP 124-26. It acknowledged that only one item tested positive for blood in a subsequent phenol test. CP 124. But it argued the Bluestar evidence should be admitted anyway, "to give the jury a full and complete picture of the forensic evidence in this case." CP 125.

The court held a hearing at which Ms. Lucas and Mr. Baggenstoss testified. RP (Oct. 1, 2019) at 9-57. They both said investigators use Bluestar only to identify locations for further testing, usually with phenol, to corroborate the presence of blood. RP (Oct. 1, 2019) at 24-25, 30, 38-39, 48-49.

With respect to the Bluestar reactions the officers were unable to photograph, Ms. Lucas said the following:

[On the carpet,] it illuminated a very large area from . . . the head of the bed all the way to the foot of the bed on that left side of the bed it illuminated the entire way. . . .

We noticed two large marks that stretched, like I said, all the way to the foot of the bed to include to the doorway of the bathroom. It was two long marks. Almost like streaks. I would say that they were pretty wide, which we believe that they were possible drag mark[s] on the carpet due to how wide they were.

RP (Oct. 1, 2019) at 23-24.

Ms. Lucas testified that officers tried to recreate this reaction at the police department, "but by that time it had been

diluted." RP (Oct. 1, 2019) at 25. She also testified that her expertise was in collecting evidence rather than interpreting it. RP (Oct. 1, 2019) at 29. Mr. Baggenstoss testified that he performed phenol tests on swabs from all the items sprayed with Bluestar, and that only the swab from the gray sheet corroborated the presence of blood. RP (Oct. 1, 2019) at 42-46.

The defense argued the probative value of either presumptive test (Bluestar or phenol) was minimal, since cleaning products are routinely present on sheets, carpets, and bathrooms, and that this probative value was far outweighed by the prejudice of testimony suggesting "[t]here's blood everywhere." RP (Oct. 1, 2019) at 64-65.

The trial court did not conduct any ER 403 balancing inquiry. RP (Oct. 4, 2019) at 5-6. Instead, it concluded it was obligated to admit "presumptive testing" evidence, under ER 702 as interpreted in <u>Stenson</u>, 132 Wn.2d 668. RP (Oct. 4, 2019) at 5-6.

iii. Trial testimony

The State's case rested entirely on circumstantial evidence: evidence of blood in bedroom, rather than just in the shower, and alleged efforts to clean it up; differences between the accounts Mr. Bernhard allegedly gave to various witnesses,² and between his account and the blood sugar log Ms. Cooper claimed to have taken from Mrs. Bernhard's glucometer;³ the statement Mrs. Bernhard gave to Detective Abastillas at the hospital;⁴ and testimony that her injuries were not consistent with a seizure.

_

² RP 535-37, 587-96, 606-07, 611-12, 681, 700-01, 1552.

³ Mr. Bernhard agreed that Mrs. Bernhard's blood sugar went down during the relevant interval, but he said Ms. Cooper's log was not accurate. RP 1622-25.

⁴ RP 1666-68; Ex. 171.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Bernhard testified. She was vehemently opposed to the prosecution and testified her injuries were caused by a diabetic episode. E.g., RP 1350-51, 1395.

Paramedic Josue Gonzalez testified that he thought he saw blood on the left side of the mattress when he responded to Mr. Bernhard's 911 call. RP 464-65. Ms. Cooper and Ms. Moore testified about the items they photographed in the bedroom, and those photographs were admitted. RP 655-59, 703; Ex. 20-25. Neighbor Shelley Ransier said she looked in the Bernhards' outdoor garbage cans on April 13, 2016, and observed bags "full of like clothing or something fluffy." RP 597-98.

Mr. Bernhard acknowledged lying to detectives Aceves and Romero about the blood on the mattress, and said he stopped answering their questions truthfully when he realized they suspected him of harming Mrs. Bernhard. RP 1592-93.

Dr. Mulholland opined that Mrs. Bernhard's internal vaginal injuries could have occurred only if "an object was non-

accidentally placed in the vagina." RP 806-08. Various lay and expert witnesses, including Mrs. Bernhard herself, disputed whether her other injuries could be attributable to a diabetic seizure, and whether she could have moved around with extremely low blood sugar levels. RP 487, 633-34, 695-96, 731-32, 1190-93, 1266, 1274, 1341-42, 1436, 1497, 1506-11; Ex. 143 (at 1:20:35 to 1:21:20).

Both Mr. and Mrs. Bernhard testified at length about her health problems, which included periodic hemorrhaging and internal bleeding in her stomach and esophagus. RP 1515-16. Mrs. Bernhard testified that since April 2016, she had received about 15 blood transfusions. RP 1186-88. Mrs. Bernhard also testified that her fibroids and endometriosis caused her to bleed a lot both during and outside her normal menstrual cycle. RP 1158, 1182-83. She said she had cleaned blood off the mattress, bedsheets, and carpet over the years. RP 1159-63.

Consistent with their pretrial testimony, Ms. Lucas and Mr. Baggenstoss testified to the process and results of the Bluestar and phenol testing. RP 942-73, 993-1030. Mr. Baggenstoss testified that his phenol testing indicated blood on the gray fitted sheet and the shower step, but not on the carpet, mattress, or shower stool. RP 1023-24. He said this did not definitively rule out the presence of blood on the latter three items but did mean it was not present in quantities sufficient to react with the phenol. RP 1024-25. Mr. Baggenstoss also explained that both Bluestar and phenol could react with blood that is years old. RP 1030.

Through Ms. Lucas's testimony, the State admitted several photographs showing Bluestar reactions on the items sprayed at the police station. RP 982; Ex. 114-34. Exhibits 127 and 128 were photographs of the Bluestar reaction on the bedsheets. RP 988. Ms. Lucas described the tan sheet as having "a large

reaction area to the Bluestar." RP 988. Regarding the gray sheet, she said:

[I]t appeared to Detective Smith and I . . . almost as if there is some voided areas, which would mean that - - a voided area is an area where blood is blocked by the something, that could be a person's part of their body. And to us, it appeared as if it would be a voided area, possibly a head and then a shoulder-ish area laying on your side.

RP 988.

Mrs. Bernhard testified that she could not remember anything she said to detectives at the hospital, and that she believed Ms. Cooper had influenced her statements. RP 1276-78, 1282-83, 1309-10, 1324, 1337, 1358-59, 1362, 1374, 1393. Defense expert Dr. Daniel Reisberg testified that Mrs. Bernhard was likely susceptible to false memory when she spoke with detectives, because she was on opiates and benzodiazepines, had a high BAC, and had apparently suffered blood loss. RP 1219-21, 1227-36, 1246.

Dr. Bruce Wilson, an endocrinologist, testified that he had originally been contacted by the State, but that after his deposition he communicated mostly with the defense. RP 1434. He explained that the combination of Type 1 diabetes and liver disease predisposes a person to more extreme hypoglycemia than does diabetes alone, and that alcohol-consumption can lower a person's blood sugar even without these other complicating factors. RP 1431-40.

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