FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/28/2022 1:47 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101216-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

V.

JAMES BERHARD, Appellant

ANSWER TO PETITION AND CROSS PETITION FOR REVIEW

Respectfully submitted: SHAWN P. SANT Prosecuting Attorney

by: Frank W. Jenny, WSBA 11591 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Franklin County Prosecuting Attorney's Office 1016 North 4th Avenue Pasco, WA 99301 (509) 545-3543

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW BY THE STATE

- Do the crimes of assault and rape constitute the "same criminal conduct" for purposes of RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a)?
- Did the defendant in this case suffer any prejudice when his attorney did not argue at sentencing that convictions for assault and rape arose from the "same criminal conduct?"

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By unpublished opinion dated July 28, 2022, the Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions of James Edward Bernhard (hereinafter defendant) for rape in the second degree and assault in the second degree. However, the Court of Appeals found defendant's sentencing counsel was ineffective in not arguing that the two convictions arose from the "same criminal conduct" as defined in RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). Thus, the Court of Appeals remanded for resentencing.

Defendant's statement of the case is substantially correct as far as it goes. However, the State would make the following additions, corrections and amplifications.

Defendant refers to the victim being diagnosed with endometriosis and fibroids. However, those diagnoses occurred in 2017, which was *after* the crime was

committed. RP 1158, 1182-83, 1326. The OB-Gyn did not notice any fibroids when operating on the victim. RP 810. The source of her bleeding was the vaginal lacerations. *Id.* The lacerations were all separate and distinct, with tissue between them; "If it was from a fall or one particular event, because of how the vagina is injured, the laceration externally would be continuous with the laceration going into the vagina." RP 807. The OB-GYN described the defendant as being "detached from the situation." RP 805.

In August of 2015 the defendant told his neighbor, "I just hate to say this, but I just feel like it would be better if she was just dead. It would be easier for all of us." RP 583. "He made comments like she's not the woman that I married." *Id.* "[The defendant] was kind of irritated with . . . her frequent problems that she had associated with drinking and the diabetes." RP 829. "He was tired of her

having problems. And I think it [was] just kind of an overall thing with the drinking as well as the other problems associated with the drinking." RP 831.

Defendant states that after the couple returned from the barbeque, Mrs. Bernhard at some point went into the couple's bedroom and fell asleep. When she fell asleep, she was wearing a long maxi dress. RP 1355-56. The maxi dress was later found and photographed my Mrs. Bernhard's sister, Shelby Cooper, and her friend Melissa Moore. It was turned inside out and was saturated with a large amount of blood. RP 652-53; 658; Ex. 24-25. Aside from the bloody dress, they found and photographed a yellow rag on the floor that was bloody. RP 652, Ex. 22. They photographed blood on the mattress. Ex. 20. The fact that the blanket on the bed was pulled all the way up was unusual because the Bernhards normally did not make the bed. RP 703. One of the diamond earrings the

victim always wore was on the floor to the left of the bed.

Id.; RP 654. There were a set of sheets in the washing machine. RP 659.

Defendant referrers to a 911 call that he placed.

During the 911 call, the defendant allowed the dispatcher to refer to his wife by the incorrect gender *four times*before he corrected her. Ex. 10. He switched from a collective to a singular report: "We might have overdone it"; "The last time I checked her blood sugar she was 206."

Ex. 10. He estimated she had been unconscious for fifteen minutes. Ex. 10. He mentioned that his wife had a seizure four minutes and 52 seconds into a five minute, 35 second call. Id.

When medics arrived, the victim was unconscious and not actively seizing. RP 480. She never had a seizure during her contact with paramedics. *Id.*; RP 636. She never had a seizure during her hospitalization. RP

632. She was put on, then taken off of Keppra, an antiseizure medication, after an EEG was negative. RP 638-39.

A responding paramedic noticed that the victim's feet were towards the entrance of the shower and her head was closer to the drain. RP 479. She was wet from her thighs up. *Id.* She had blood from her mid sternum to her thighs, which was diluted with water. RP 482. There was no water on her feet. RP 479. There was nothing noticeable inserted into her vaginal area. RP 481.

Defendant told the paramedics his wife was on her mensural cycle and was "a very modest person" and requested they cover her with a robe. RP 482-83, 530.

Shelley Ransier, neighbor and good friend of the couple, refuted that the victim was a modest person. RP 594.

While medics were working to revive the victim, the defendant repeatedly asked Ms. Ransier to put tampons in

his wife. RP 593-94. And yet he admitted on the stand that he was not positive whether she was menstruating or not. RP 1608. But later he said he was confident she had been on her period. RP 1641. When asked whether the victim was on her menstrual cycle, Dr. Mullholand (the OB-GYN who performed her emergency reparative surgery) responded, "I don't believe she was, because if so, I would have mentioned in my operative notes that there was blood coming through the cervix, which would have been from her menstrual cycle." RP 811. The victim herself could not recall if she was menstruating or not on April 11, 2016. RP 1302.

An EMT saw piles of test strips in the master bedroom and estimated there were between 50 and 75 of them. RP 464-65. In a corner of the room, he saw a pile of beer cans. RP 465. He observed blood on the left side of the bed and described its positioning as around where a

person's midsection would be if lying in the bed. RP 465-66. Melissa Moore and Shelby Cooper also saw a blood spot on the left side of the mattress. RP 653; Ex. 20. The victim slept on the left side of the bed. RP 586; 1357; 1614.

The paramedics, per their usual procedure, gave the victim a half ampoule of D50 and she showed no reaction. RP 490. After being given the full ampoule, she woke up but was well below normal levels. RP 491-92. The attending paramedic gave her an IV drip of D50 on the way to the hospital, something he has only seen twice in his career. RP 538. When she was being transported, her blood sugar levels were in the 30s. It was in the 40s when she was in the ER. RP 65.

The defendant could not remember the positioning of the shower stool during the incident, nor whether it was intact. RP 1631-32. He never saw a leg of the shower

stool – or any other object – in his wife's vagina. RP 1634.

The defendant is the only one who witnessed his wife's supposed seizure. RP 1634.

The defendant was described as distraught, crying and just overwhelmed by the incident. RP 463.

Additionally as "distant, almost in a state of shock of not really understanding what was going on." RP 488. "He was very excitable and this story kept changing on several interview questions. . . . I asked him . . . where he found her, and he stated that he found her in bed. Was awoken by abnormal breathing and he drug her to the shower and called 911." RP 535. He was "just erratic and like intense and almost like angry and upset at the same time." RP 587. The defendant, referring to the hunting trophies throughout the house, told one of the paramedics, "I kill things and I cannot deal with diabetes." RP 492. He told

the neighbor, "I just can't stand this. I can't fucking deal with this anymore." RP 589.

The defendant texted Shelby Cooper (the victim's sister) that the victim had a seizure and was in the hospital. RP 694. The defendant called Steve Swenning (the victim's father). RP 606-07. He never told him that she had severe vaginal trauma or required emergency reparative surgery. RP 607. The defendant called Shelby Cooper and told her that the victim "had internal bleeding and they didn't know where it was coming from." RP 694. When the victim had been hospitalized before, Ms. Cooper would go to her house to get her personal effects. She entered the house the same way she had before. RP 702.

The defendant skipped work on April 11, 2016. RP 409. He texted his boss, Jill Thompson, about it and sent

her a picture of his wife, bruised and swollen, lying in a hospital bed. RP 412, 622, 631-32.

According to Dr. Bonger, "I have seen well over two dozen seizures in my career, none of them have violent enough to cause the kind of trauma that she had." RP 732. Aside from the injuries noted by Dr. Bonger, other witnesses saw "a bruised handprint" on the victim's face." RP 595; 700. She also had small dime-shaped bruises on her abdomen which were photographed on April 19, 2016. RP 1037-38; Ex. 136, 137. She also had a rug burn injury (some skin removed) on the small of her back. RP 1038; Ex. 138. The victim lost a massive amount of blood, and had to be given four blood transfusions during her hospitalization. RP 634-35; 637-38. She wrote in her affidavit given to police, "I had also lost, I believe, six units of blood from the vaginal area due to the trauma." Ex. 171.

Ms. Cooper and her stepsister recorded the readings from the victim's blood sugar meter, adjusting the time difference. RP 710-12; 908-09; 1081-82; Ex. 30. At the time, Ms. Cooper used a blood sugar meter that was exactly the same as the victim's. RP 70. The victim was present when the times and readings were recorded. RP 711. The four blood sugar checks shown in Ex. 30 show the victim's blood sugar started off high (270), then went to 160, them plummeted to 47 and 48 around 2:00 a.m. When the paramedics arrived around 3:37 a.m., her blood sugar was so low (less than 20 mg/dl) that it did not even register on their glucometer (blood sugar meter). RP 484-85.

In his interview, the defendant reported shoving the shower stool and other items into a corner. Ex. 143 (14:26-15:15), but paramedic Jack Piper "[remembered] seeing there was shampoo bottles lined up against the

wall. . . . I remember them being in an orderly fashion against the wall, upright." RP 527. Paramedic Piper did not remember seeing a stool in the shower. *Id*.

Paramedic Jason McGary did not recall seeing any other objects in the shower. RP 481.

The defendant rubbed the mattress pad so hard when cleaning it that it tore the fabric. RP 1090; Ex. 64.

In his interview with the police, the defendant denied throwing anything away, but on April 13, 2016, Shelley Ransier saw garbage bags "full of clothing or something fluffy" in the Bernhard's' garbage cans. RP 597-98. The bloody dress was never located by police in the execution of the search warrant. RP 1086. The bloody yellow rag was also never located in the search. *Id.* The defendant lied to the detectives seven times about where he saw the blood. RP 1640.

According to Paramedic Piper, "When I inquired what her blood sugar reading was, he said he did not check it. And then I asked how he knew it was low and he said it was because he gave eight extra units of [insulin]." RP 536. "Initially he said he gave [the insulin] to her after an argument. And then later on he corrected me saying that she gave it to herself." RP 536-37.

Nurse Whitney Dack testified that the defendant's account of what happened changed "constantly." "He first said he never gave her any insulin. Then he said he did. Then his increments changed. How he said he found her changed." RP 681.

Dr. Daniel Resiberg was forced to admit during cross examination that people remember correctly most of the time; that correct memories are more common than incorrect ones. RP 1247.

In her affidavit to police, the victim indicated that it was not a normal occurrence for the defendant to administer insulin to her. Ex. 171. Indeed, no one connected to the case (on either side) *ever* saw the defendant check her blood sugar levels or administer insulin to his wife: The defendant's boss (Jill Thomson), RP 404; the victim's sister's friend (Melissa Moore), RP 648; the victim's sister (Shelby Cooper), RP 698; neighbor/friend to the couple (Ray Ransier), RP 830; neighbor/friend to the couple (Shelley Ransier), RP 578; the victim's father (Steve Swenning), RP 618; the defendant's mother (Margie Bernhard), RP 1431.

E. ARGUMENT WHY THE STATE'S ISSUES SHOULD BE ACCEPTED FOR REVIW.

Since rape and assault are not crimes arising from the same criminal conduct, defendant was not prejudiced by his attorney's failure to so argue. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with prior published opinions.

The Court of Appeals found defendant's trial counsel was ineffective in not arguing at sentencing that the crimes of rape in the second degree and assault in the second degree arouse from the "same criminal conduct" under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). However, the failure to make the "same criminal conduct" argument is only prejudicial if the defendant shows that, with the argument, the sentence would have differed. *State v. Munoz-Rivera*, 190 Wn. App. 870, 887, 361 P.3d 361 P.3d 182 (2015); *State v. Beasley*, 126 Wn. App. 670, 686, 109 P.3d 849 (2005). Defendant made no such showing here.

When a defendant is sentenced for two or more current offenses, "the sentencing range for each current offense shall be determined by using all other current and prior convictions as if they were prior convictions for purposes of the offender score" unless the crimes involve

"the same criminal conduct." RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a).

"Same criminal conduct" means two or more crimes that involve "the same criminal intent, are committed at the same time and place, and involve the same victim." *Id.*

Considerations governing acceptance of review by this court include if the Court of Appels decision is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(2). The instant decision cannot be reconciled with *State v. Brown,* 100 Wn. App. 104, 995 P.2d 1278 (2000), *rev'd in part on other grounds,* 147 Wn.2d 330, 58 P.3d 889 (2002), *State v. Kloepper,* 179 Wn. App. 343, 317 P.3d 1088 (2014), and *State v. Hernandez,* 95 Wn. App. 480, 976 P.2d 165 (1999).

In Brown, the defendant was convicted of first degree rape and first degree assault against one of the victims. The court first noted that the two crimes failed to satisfy the "same criminal conduct" test "because rape and

assault have separate intents." *Brown*, 100 Wn. App. at 114.

Since the defendant in *Brown* was convicted of two serious violent offenses, the court needed to decide whether the two crimes arose from "separate and distinct criminal conduct." The court held that crimes which fail to meet the statutory definition of "same criminal conduct" are necessarily "separate and distinct." *Brown*, 100 Wn. App. at 114.

In *Kloepper*, the defendant was convicted of first degree assault and first degree rape. The court first noted the rule from *Brown* that "separate and distinct criminal conduct" for purposes of serious violent offenses is judged under the "same criminal conduct" standard of RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). The *Kloepper* court could have simply resolved its case based on the statement in *Brown* that "rape and assault have separate intents" and therefore do

not satisfy the "same criminal conduct" test. See Brown, 100 Wn. App. at 113. Instead, the Kloepper court proceeded to discuss the facts of the case.

The defendant in *Kloepper* argued that the assault ended when the victim "submitted" to the rape; he thus argued the assault furthered the rape and was part of the same criminal conduct. However, the court held that "the trial court was free to view the rape as a crime of opportunity that presented itself after the assault rather than the object of the attack." *Id.* at 358.

In the instant case, the only conclusion to be drawn from the record is that the rape and assault arose from separate criminal conduct. The jury found that the second degree assault was committed not only with intent to commit second degree rape, but the defendant intentionally assaulted the victim and recklessly inflicted substantial bodily harm upon her. CP 189. Unlike in

Kloepper, there is not even a basis to argue that the assault caused the victim to "submit" to the rape. The victim was unconscious when paramedics arrived. RP 480. There is no indication that she was ever alert when the crimes were being committed. Given the victim's condition, the defendant did not need one crime to further the other. As there was no basis to argue for finding "same criminal conduct," defendant was not prejudiced by his attorney's failure to argue for it.

Moreover, the substantial bodily harm supporting the charge of assault in the second degree consisted of lacerations to the outside of the vagina that required emergency surgery. They were external lacerations not penetrating the vagina. RP 807. This was separate from the rape which required penetration of the vagina. RCW 9A.44.010(1); 9A.44.050.

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